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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEBRASKA 

 
OGLALA SIOUX TRIBE, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
 vs. 
 
JASON SCHWARTING, LICENSEE OF 
ARROWHEAD INN, INC., JASON 
SCHWARTING d/b/a ARROWHEAD 
INN, INC., SANFORD HOLDINGS, LLC., 
LICENSEE OF D&S PIONEER 
SERVICE, SANFORD HOLDINGS, LLC 
d/b/a D&S PIONEER SERVICE, 
STEWART J. KOZAL, LICENSEE OF 
JUMPING EAGLE INN, STUART J. 
KOZAL d/b/a JUMPING EAGLE INN,  
CLAY BREHMER, PARTNER, 
LICENSEE OF STATE LINE LIQUOR, 
DANIEL J. BREHMER, PARTNER, 
LICENSEE OF STATE LINE LIQUOR, 
PIVO, INC d/b/a HIGH PLAINS 
BUDWEISER, DIETRICH 
DISTRIBUTING CO., INC, ARROWHEAD 
DISTRIBUTION, INC., COORS 
DISTRIBUTING OF WEST NEBRASKA, 
INC., d/b/a COORS OF WEST 
NEBRASKA; ANHEUSER BUSCH 
INBEV WORLDWIDE, INC., SAB 
MILLER d/b/a MILLER BREWING 
COMPANY; MOLSON COORS 
BREWING COMPANY; MILLERCOORS, 
LLC, PABST BREWING COMPANY,  
 
  Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
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) 
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) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CASE NO.: 4:12-cv-03027 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT 
SANFORD HOLDINGS LLC’S MOTION 
TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO FED. R. 

CIV. P. 12(b)(6)
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COMES NOW Defendant, Sanford Holdings, LLC, Licensee of D&S Pioneer 

Service and Sanford Holdings, LLC d/b/a D&S Pioneer Service (“Sanford Holdings”), by 

and through its attorney of record, and, pursuant to NECivR 7.0.1(a)(1)(A), hereby 

submit their Brief in support of their Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Second Amended 

Complaint. 

INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff, the Oglala Sioux Tribe, filed its Second Amended Complaint in the 

above-captioned action seeking both monetary and injunctive relief against Sanford 

Holdings to redress the damages that Plaintiff has allegedly suffered as a result of 

Sanford Holdings’ sale of alcohol to unknown, unnamed third parties.  Plaintiff asserts 

five causes of action, each of which essentially alleges that Plaintiff has been harmed 

by the manufacture, distribution, and sale of alcohol by the named Defendants.  Sanford 

Holdings is a Nebraska limited liability company that is licensed as a retailer seller of 

beer and other alcohol by the State of Nebraska.  Sanford Holdings does business as D 

& S Pioneer Service in Whiteclay, Nebraska.  Sanford has brought this Motion 

requesting that the Court dismiss Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint for failure to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

FACTS 

 For purposes of Sanford Holdings’ Motion to Dismiss only, the following 

allegations are reproduced from Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint: 

1. The Plaintiff Oglala Sioux Tribe is the federally recognized tribe of the Lakota 

people.  (Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 1). 
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2. Sanford Holdings, LLC, a Nebraska limited liability company, is licensed as a 

retailer seller of beer and other alcohol by the State of Nebraska and does 

business as D & S Pioneer Service in Whiteclay, Nebraska.  (Second Amended 

Complaint, ¶ 4). 

3. The Oglala Sioux Tribe is unable to enforce its laws in Whiteclay, NE.  (Second 

Amended Complaint, ¶ 18). 

4. The sale of alcohol is permitted in Whiteclay.  (Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 

19). 

5. The Oglala Sioux Tribe cannot enforce Nebraska’s laws that regulate the sale of 

alcohol.  (Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 54). 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The United States Supreme Court has revised the appropriate standard of review 

when evaluating whether a Complaint sets forth sufficient facts to survive a motion to 

dismiss. Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544 (2007). In Twombly, the Court 

retired the Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41 (1957) “no-set-of-facts” standard, and 

replaced it with a “flexible plausibility standard which obligates a pleader to amplify a 

claim with some factual allegations in those contexts where such amplification is 

needed to render the claim plausible.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 173 L. Ed. 2d 

868 (2009) (internal citations omitted). 

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) a pleading must contain a “short 

and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.” As the 

Court held in Twombly the pleading standard Rule 8 announces does not require 
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“detailed factual allegations,” but it demands more than an unadorned, the-defendant-

unlawfully-harmed-me accusation. Id., at 555 (citing Papasan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 

286 (1986)). A pleading that offers “labels and conclusions” or “a formulaic recitation of 

the elements of a cause of action will not do.” Twombly at 555. Nor does a complaint 

suffice if it tenders “naked assertion[s]” devoid of “further factual enhancement.” Id., at 

557.  

To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, 

accepted as true, to “state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Id., at 570. A 

claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court 

to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged. 

Id., at 556. The plausibility standard is not akin to a “probability requirement,” but it asks 

for more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully. Id. Where a 

complaint pleads facts that are “merely consistent with” a defendant’s liability, it “stops 

short of the line between possibility and plausibility of ‘entitlement to relief.’” Id., at 557. 

(brackets omitted). 

* * * * * 

But where the well-pleaded facts do not permit the court to infer more than the 

mere possibility of misconduct, the complaint has alleged -- but it has not 

“show[n]” – “that the pleader is entitled to relief.” Fed. Rule Civ. Proc. 8(a)(2). 

In keeping with these principles a court considering a motion to dismiss 

can choose to begin by identifying pleadings that, because they are no more than 

conclusions, are not entitled to the assumption of truth. While legal conclusions 

can provide the framework of a complaint, they must be supported by factual 
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allegations. When there are well-pleaded factual allegations, a court should 

assume their veracity and then determine whether they plausibly give rise to an 

entitlement to relief. 

Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949-50. 

ARGUMENT 

I. PLAINTIFF’S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE 
PLAINTIFF LACKS STANDING TO MAINTAIN ITS CLAIMS. 
 

Each of the causes of action asserted in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint 

fail due to Plaintiff’s general lack of standing to assert the claims it alleges.  To satisfy 

standing requirements, a plaintiff must show (1) it has suffered an injury-in-fact that is 

concrete and particularized and actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical; (2) 

the injury is fairly traceable to the challenged action of the defendant; and (3) it is likely, 

as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable 

decision.  McClain v. American Economy Ins. Co., 424 F.3d 728 (8th Cir. 2005).  The 

five causes of action set forth in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint basically allege 

that Plaintiff has incurred various societal and medical costs in caring for those 

residents of the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation who are afflicted with or affected by 

alcoholism.  Plaintiff’s action should be dismissed because Plaintiff has not and cannot 

plead sufficient facts to show that Sanford Holdings has invaded any concrete, legally 

protected interest of the Plaintiff.  Furthermore, the injuries alleged by Plaintiff are not 

fairly traceable to any action of Sanford Holdings, and it is completely speculative that 

the alleged injury would be redressed by any relief this Court may grant. 

A. Plaintiff has not pleaded sufficient facts to establish that it has 
suffered an injury-in-fact that is concrete and particularized as 
opposed to conjectural or hypothetical. 
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The first element of the irreducible constitutional minimum of standing is that the 

plaintiff must have suffered an "injury in fact”—an invasion of a legally protected interest 

that is concrete and particularized, and actual or imminent, rather than conjectural or 

hypothetical.  Vermont Agency of Natural Resources v. U.S. ex rel. Stevens, 529 U.S. 

765, 120 S. Ct. 1858, 146 L. Ed. 2d 836 (2000).  An interest unrelated to injury in fact is 

insufficient to give a plaintiff standing; the interest must consist of obtaining 

compensation for, or preventing, the violation of a legally protected right.  Id.  Standing 

to sue in federal court is not measured by the intensity of the litigant's interest or the 

fervor of his or her advocacy.  Valley Forge Christian College v. Americans United for 

Separation of Church and State, Inc., 454 U.S. 464, 102 S. Ct. 752, 70 L. Ed. 2d 700 

(1982).  The presence of disagreement, however sharp and acrimonious it may be, is 

insufficient by itself to meet constitutional requirements.  The parties seeking judicial 

resolution of a dispute must also show that they personally suffered some actual or 

threatened injury as a result of the putatively illegal conduct of the other party.  Diamond 

v. Charles, 476 U.S. 54, 106 S. Ct. 1697, 90 L. Ed. 2d 48 (1986).  The injury may be 

economic or otherwise but must, in relation to the alleged violations, distinguish that 

party from the undifferentiated mass of the public.  Association of Data Processing 

Service Organizations, Inc. v. Camp, 397 U.S. 150, 90 S. Ct. 827, 25 L. Ed. 2d 184 

(1970); Korioth v. Brisco, 523 F.2d 1271, 21 Fed. R. Serv. 2d 380 (5th Cir. 1975). 

In the case at bar, each of the causes of action asserted by Plaintiff essentially 

allege that Sanford Holdings should somehow be held liable for selling alcohol to Oglala 

Sioux tribe members.  But Plaintiff does not and cannot allege any violation by Sanford 

Holdings of a legally protected right of the Plaintiff. As will be discussed at length in 
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subsequent portions of this brief, Nebraska law is clear that Sanford Holdings has not 

committed any wrongful or illegal act in selling alcohol to members of the Oglala Sioux 

Tribe. Thus Plaintiff cannot show that it has personally suffered some actual or 

threatened injury, distinguishable from the undifferentiated mass of the public, as a 

result of the putatively illegal conduct of Sanford Holdings.  Plaintiff has therefore not 

pleaded sufficient facts to establish that it has suffered an injury-in-fact by way of 

Sanford Holdings’ sale of alcohol to unknown, unnamed third parties. 

B. Plaintiff has not and cannot plead sufficient facts to establish that its 
alleged injuries are fairly traceable to any act or omission on the part 
of Sanford Holdings. 

 
In order to have standing, the alleged injury must be fairly traceable to the 

challenged action of the defendant, and not to the independent action of some third 

party not before the court or some other independent source.  Bond v. U.S., 131 S.Ct. 

2355 (2011); Northeastern Florida Chapter of Associated General Contractors of 

America v. City of Jacksonville, Fla., 508 U.S. 656, 113 S.Ct. 2297 (1993).  If the injury 

does not stem from the action disputed, the court cannot provide redress by directing 

the defendant to alter its actions.  Kurtz v. Baker, 829 F.2d 1133 (D.C. Cir. 1987) 

(plaintiff has no standing to challenge refusal of House and senate chaplains to invite 

nonbelievers to deliver secular remarks during the period reserved for morning prayer 

since the chaplains had no discretion to grant such a request).  In the absence of a 

statute conferring standing, one also does not have standing to sue by virtue of being 

harmed indirectly by injuries allegedly done to others.  Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 95 

S.Ct. 2197 (1975) (standing denied where alleged injury was the denial to town 

residents of the beneifts of living in an integrated community as a result of the alleged 
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exclusion of the poor and minorities from the town).  The United States Supreme Court 

has said that an interest that is merely a "byproduct" of the suit itself cannot give rise to 

a cognizable injury in fact for Article 3 standing purposes.  Vermont Agency, 529 U.S. 

765, 120 S.Ct. 1858. 

In the case at bar, Plaintiff has not and cannot plead sufficient facts to establish 

that its alleged injuries are fairly traceable to any act or omission on the part of Sanford 

Holdings.  This is because Nebraska has already determined, both as a matter of law 

and an expression of policy, that the proximate cause of injuries resulting from the 

overconsumption of alcohol is the act of the purchaser in drinking the liquor and not the 

act of the vendor in selling it.  See Pelzek v. American Legion, 236 Neb. 608, 463 

N.W.2d 321 (1990) (“no redress exist[s] against persons selling, giving, or furnishing 

intoxicating liquor, or their sureties, … [because] the proximate cause of the injury was 

the act of the purchaser in drinking the liquor and not the act of the vendor in selling it.”).  

Sanford Holdings’ lawful sale of beer is not the legal or “proximate” cause of any 

resulting harm brought about by the independent, intervening acts of unknown and 

unnamed third parties over which Sanford Holdings has no control.  Thus Plaintiff’s 

alleged injuries are not fairly traceable to any act or omission on the part of Sanford 

Holdings.   

C. It is completely speculative that Plaintiff’s alleged injuries would be 
redressed by any relief this Court may grant against Sanford 
Holdings. 

 
Another element of the constitutional requirement of standing that the plaintiff 

must demonstrate is a likelihood that the plaintiff's injury in fact will be redressed if the 

requested relief is granted.  Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Environment, 523 U.S. 83, 
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118 S.Ct. 1003 (1998).  This test assumes that a decision on the merits would be 

favorable and that the requested relief would be granted; it then goes on to ask whether 

that relief would be likely to redress the party's injury. In re Thornburgh, 869 F.2d 1503 

(D.C. Cir. 1989).  A generalized interest in deterrence supporting a claim for injunctive 

relief is insufficient; and psychic satisfaction is not an acceptable remedy for purposes 

of the redressability requirement for standing.  Monsanto Co. v. Geertson Seed Farms, 

130 S.Ct. 2743 (2010). 

In the present case, it is completely speculative that Plaintiff’s alleged injuries 

would be redressed by any relief this Court may grant against Sanford Holdings.  As 

alleged in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation is 

and always has been a “dry” reservation, with the exception of a brief period in the 

1970s.  But this longstanding prohibition of the sale, possession, and consumption of 

alcohol on the reservation has not redressed the injuries Plaintiff complains of.  

Plaintiff’s assertion that prohibiting Sanford Holdings from selling alcohol to members of 

the Oglala Sioux tribe will redress the problem is speculative at best.  .  

D. Prudential standing principles support dismissal of Plaintiffs Second 
Amended Complaint. 
 

Inquiry as to standing involves both the constitutional limitations on federal court 

jurisdiction and prudential limitations on its exercise.  Warth, 422 U.S. 490, 95 S.Ct. 

2197.  In both dimensions, it is founded in concern about the proper, and properly 

limited, role of the courts in a democratic society.  Id.  Among the prudential restrictions 

on standing is the general requirement that a litigant must assert his or her own legal 

rights and cannot assert the legal rights of a third party, which flows from a concern that 

third parties will not adequately represent the individuals whose rights they seek to 
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vindicate.  Massey v. Helman, 196 F.3d 727 (7th Cir. 1999), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 1065, 

121 S.Ct. 2214 (2001).  Even when an action falls within the constitutional boundaries, 

plaintiff can still lack standing under prudential principles by which the judiciary seeks to 

avoid deciding questions of broad social import where no individual rights will be 

vindicated, and where limiting access to the federal courts to those litigants is best 

suited to a certain particular claim.  Gladstone Realtors v. Village of Bellwood, 441, U.S. 

91, 99 S.Ct. 1601 (1979). 

In this case, Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint runs afoul of the prudential 

limitations on standing.  Each cause of action in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint 

stems from the alleged failure of Sanford Holdings and other defendants to prevent 

alcohol use among the Native American population on the Pine Ridge Indian 

Reservation.  The claims Plaintiff asserts are of broad social import, and it cannot be 

fairly said that the individual persons who brought this lawsuit on behalf of the Oglala 

Sioux tribe speak for the entire tribe and thus adequately represent the individuals 

whose rights they seek to vindicate.  Plaintiff’s claims do not present more than a 

generalized grievance, and prudential standing principles support dismissal of Plaintiff’s 

Second Amended Complaint.    

II. THE CAUSES OF ACTION ALLEGED IN PLAINTIFF’S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FAIL 
TO STATE CLAIMS UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED. 

 
Each of the causes of action alleged in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint 

requires a finding of wrongdoing by Sanford Holdings in its sale of alcohol to members 

of the Oglala Sioux Tribe.  Settled Nebraska law, however, makes it clear that Sanford 

Holdings has not committed a wrongful act in selling alcohol to members of the Oglala 
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Sioux Tribe.  Therefore Sanford Holdings is not liable to Plaintiff under any theory 

Plaintiff has or could plead. 

A. Plaintiff’s first cause of action fails to state a claim for civil 
conspiracy against Sanford Holdings because Plaintiff does not 
allege any specific wrongful acts on the part of Sanford which might 
constitute an independent tort. 

 
A civil conspiracy is only actionable if the alleged conspirators actually committed 

some underlying misconduct.  LOL Finance Co. v. Paul Johnson & Sons Cattle Co., 

Inc., 758 F.Supp.2d 871 (D.Neb. 2010).  A conspiracy is not a separate and 

independent tort in itself; rather, it depends upon the existence of an underlying tort.  Id.  

Without such underlying tort, there can be no cause of action for a conspiracy to commit 

the tort.  Id. 

Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint does not identify any specific laws that 

Sanford Holdings has violated.  Instead, Plaintiff’s first cause of action broadly states 

that “[a]s part of a common enterprise, the Defendants … have knowingly acted in  

concert to manufacture, distribute, and sell beer though the Whiteclay retail outlets in 

amounts that cannot be legally sold, consumed or possessed under the laws of the 

State of Nebraska and the OST.”  (Amended Complaint at ¶ 44).  Settled Nebraska law, 

however, makes it clear that Sanford Holdings has not committed a wrongful act by 

selling alcohol to members of the Oglala Sioux Tribe.  See Pelzek v. American Legion, 

236 Neb. 608, 463 N.W.2d 321 (1990). 

In Pelzak, a car owner and a minor driver who collided with another car brought 

an action against the lessees, lessors, and manager of a party hall where the minor had 

consumed alcohol. The district court dismissed the action, and the car owner and the 

minor appealed. In holding that no dramshop liability could be imposed on the 
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defendants, the Supreme Court quoted at length from Holmes v. Circo, 196 Neb. 496, 

499, 244 N.W.2d 65, 67 (1976) where it had stated: 

At common law, and apart from statute, no redress existed against 

persons selling, giving, or furnishing intoxicating liquor, or their sureties, 

for resulting injuries or damages due to the acts of intoxicated persons, 

whether on the theory that the dispensing of the liquor constituted a direct 

wrong or constituted actionable negligence. This rule was based on the 

theory that the proximate cause of the injury was the act of the purchaser 

in drinking the liquor and not the act of the vendor in selling it. 

Pelzek v. American Legion, 236 Neb. at 610, 463 N.W.2d at 323 (emphasis in original).   

In the case at bar, Plaintiff is making the same dramshop liability argument that 

was advanced in Pelzek.  Specifically, Plaintiff claims that it has been injured as a 

proximate result of Sanford Holdings’ sale of alcohol to members of its Reservation.  But 

no matter what theory Plaintiff advances, Pelzek establishes that Sanford Holdings has 

not committed a wrongful act in selling alcohol to members of the Oglala Sioux Tribe.  

Because civil conspiracy is only actionable if the alleged conspirators actually 

committed some underlying misconduct (LOL Finance Co., supra), Plaintiff’s “acting in 

concert” allegations fail to state claim upon which relief can be granted.  The same 

holds true for the third cause of action alleged in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, 

which seeks injunctive relief against Sanford Holdings.  An injunction can issue only 

after the plaintiff has established that the conduct sought to be enjoined is illegal and 

that the defendant, if not enjoined, will engage in such conduct.  United Transp. Union v. 

State Bar of Mich., 401 U.S. 576, 91 S.Ct. 1076 (1971). 
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B. Plaintiff’s second cause of action fails to state a claim under 18 
U.S.C. § 1161 because Section 1161 is a criminal statute that does 
not authorize a private civil cause of action, and Sanford Holdings is 
not located within “Indian Country” as that term is used in the 
statute. 

 
 Plaintiff also alleges that Sanford Holdings violates 18 U.S.C. § 1161 by selling 

beer in Whiteclay.  But 18 U.S.C. § 1161 does not create a private civil cause of action 

in Plaintiff’s favor.  Section 1161 and its related sections, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1152 and 1154, 

are all sections within Title 18 of the United States Criminal Code.  As such, any action 

to enforce a purported violation of Section 1161 can only be instituted in the name of the 

United States to protect society’s interest in security, fairness and freedom.  Kunzer v. 

Magill, 667 F.Supp.2d 1058, 1060-61 (D.Minn.2009); citing United States v. Wadena, 

152 F.3d 831, 845-46 (8th Cir.1998) (recognized that the presence of a criminal statute 

neither creates nor implies a corresponding private right of action).  Moreover, the text 

of Section 1161 makes it clear that the statute is only enforceable in “Indian country,” 

which is defined in the Indian Liquor laws as follows: 

Except as otherwise provided in sections 1154 and 1156 of this title, the 

term “Indian country,” as used in this chapter, means (a) all land within the 

limits of any Indian reservation under the jurisdiction of the United States 

Government, notwithstanding the issuance of any patent, and, including 

rights-of-way running through the reservation, (b) all dependent Indian 

communities within the borders of the United States whether within the 

original or subsequently acquired territory thereof, and whether within or 

without the limits of a state, and (c) all Indian allotments, the Indian titles to 

4:12-cv-03027-WKU-CRZ   Doc # 132   Filed: 04/27/12   Page 13 of 20 - Page ID # 601



14 
 

which have not been extinguished, including rights-of-way running through 

the same. 

18 U.S.C.A. § 1161.   

“Indian country” is only that portion of the United States which has been declared 

to be such by Act of Congress.  U.S. v. Seveloff, 2 Sawy. 311, 27 F.Cas. 1021 (D.C.Or. 

1872).   The words “Indian country” do not, standing alone, embrace territory in which 

Indian title has been extinguished, and over which the jurisdiction of the state for all 

purposes of government is full and complete.  Dick v. U.S., 208 U.S. 340, 28 S.Ct. 399 

(1908).  Plaintiff admits that Whiteclay is not located on the Pine Ridge Indian 

Reservation.  Plaintiff contends, however, that Whiteclay is located on lands that are 

claimed by Plaintiff.  Plaintiff’s assertion that it believes it should have title to the lands in 

Whiteclay, Nebraska, provides no legal basis for claiming that Whiteclay is located in 

“Indian country” as defined by Section 1161. 

C. Plaintiff fails to state a claim for public or private nuisance against 
Sanford Holdings 

A public nuisance is an unreasonable interference with a right common to the 

general public.  Restatement (Second) of Torts § 821B (1979).  A private nuisance is a 

nontrespassory invasion of another’s interest in the private use and enjoyment of land.  

Johnson v. Knox City P’ship, 273 Neb. 123, 131, 728 N.W.2d 101, 107 (2007).  Plaintiff 

fails to state a public nuisance claim because the factual allegations fail to establish that 

Sanford Holdings’ conduct was an actual or legal cause of any injuries. Furthermore, 

Plaintiff has not alleged, and cannot allege, an injury that is distinct and different in kind 

from that the general public has suffered.  Plaintiff fails to state a claim for private 
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nuisance as it has not alleged, nor can it allege, that Sanford Holdings’ conduct 

interferes with Plaintiff’s use and enjoyment of land. 

1. Plaintiff’s factual allegations fail to establish that Sanford 
Holdings’ conduct was an actual or legal cause of any injuries. 

As previously argued, Pelzek makes it clear that under Nebraska law, “no 

redress exist[s] against persons selling, giving, or furnishing intoxicating liquor, or their 

sureties, … [because] the proximate cause of the injury was the act of the purchaser in 

drinking the liquor and not the act of the vendor in selling it.”  Pelzek, 236 Neb. at 610, 

463 N.W.2d at 323.  Because there is no dramshop liability in Nebraska, Plaintiff cannot 

establish the requisite element of “liability-forming conduct” under its nuisance theories 

as a matter of Nebraska law.   

This same reasoning has been utilized by courts in other jurisdictions in the 

context of public nuisance suits brought against firearms manufacturers and distributors.  

In Young v. Bryco Arms, 213 Ill.2d 433, 821 N.E.2d 1078 (2004), survivors of five 

individuals who were shot and killed by juveniles with access to handguns asserted 

public nuisance claims against firearm manufacturers, wholesale distributors, and retail 

gun dealers. On appeal, the Illinois Supreme Court reversed the appellate court's 

allowance of a nuisance claim.  The court acknowledged that, while proximate cause is 

generally a question of fact, the lack of proximate cause may be determined by the 

court as a matter of law where the facts alleged do not sufficiently demonstrate both 

cause in fact and legal cause.   The court went on to hold as a matter of law that the 

gun manufacturers' and dealers' business practices were not the proximate cause of 

injuries to individuals shot and killed by third parties.  The court stated that the 

defendants' business practices merely created a condition that made the eventual harm 
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possible, and as such the defendants' conduct could not constitute a legal cause of the 

alleged nuisance.   

The same reasoning utilized in Bryco Arms was also applied in City of Chicago v. 

Beretta U.S.A. Corp., 213 Ill. 2d 351, 290 Ill. Dec. 525, 821 N.E.2d 1099, Prod. Liab. 

Rep. (CCH) P 17022 (2004).   In that case, the city and the county brought an action for 

public nuisance against firearms manufacturers, distributors, and dealers, seeking to 

recover compensation for law enforcement and medical services expenditures allegedly 

incurred as a result of gun violence.  The court held that the firearms manufacturers and 

distributors did not owe a duty to the public at large to prevent their firearms from ending 

up in the hands of persons who use and possess them illegally. Thus the defendants 

were not liable in an action alleging public nuisance predicated on the negligent 

operation of lawful enterprise.  The court determined that it was not reasonably 

foreseeable that the activity of criminals who illegally took firearms into a particular 

community would result in a public nuisance.  The court noted that the burden of 

guarding against the alleged injury by altering the defendants’ business practices would 

be immense, and the consequences of finding a duty were speculative and based on 

the assumption that criminals would be successfully thwarted in their efforts to obtain 

firearms. See also In re Firearm Cases, 126 Cal. App. 4th 959, 24 Cal. Rptr. 3d 659 (1st 

Dist. 2005) (alleged conduct by manufacturers, distributors and retailers of handguns 

and their trade associations, in distributing firearms in a manner that enabled criminals 

to acquire the firearms did not constitute a public nuisance, absent evidence of a causal 

connection between any conduct of the defendants, who manufactured and sold guns 
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according to federal law and guidelines, and any incident of illegal acquisition of 

firearms or criminal acts or accidental injury by a firearm).  

In the present case, the proximate cause of Plaintiff’s alleged injury would be the 

act of the individual purchasers in drinking beer and not the act of Sanford Holdings in 

selling it.  Plaintiff’s factual allegations therefore fail to establish that Sanford Holdings’ 

conduct was an actual or legal cause of any injuries. 

2. Plaintiff has not alleged, and cannot allege, an injury that is 
distinct and different in kind from that the general public has 
suffered.   

 
In order for Plaintiff to maintain an action for nuisance, it must show that it 

suffered a special injury that is distinct and different in kind from that suffered by the 

general public.  Hartford v. Womens Services, P.C., 239 Neb. 540, 544, 477 N.W.2d 

161, 165 (1991); Schroder v. City of Lincoln, 155 Neb. 599, 52 N.W.2d 808 (1952).   

The injuries that Plaintiff claims to have suffered are costs associated with caring 

for those afflicted with or affected by alcoholism.  Plaintiff claims that the Lakota people 

on the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation are more greatly affected by alcoholism or are 

more susceptible to being afflicted with alcoholism.  However, Plaintiff does not plead 

that the ills suffered by the Lakota people are different in kind than the ills suffered by 

others in the general population that are also afflicted with or affected by alcoholism.  

Merely establishing that damages are greater in magnitude does not establish damages 

that are different in kind.  Hartford, 239 Neb. at 545, 477 N.W.2d at 165.  Since Plaintiff 

does not claim that its damages are different in kind as those which may be suffered by 

the general public, Plaintiff cannot establish a claim for nuisance.  Id. 

III. PLAINTIFF’S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT SHOULD BE DISMISSED ON GROUNDS 
OF PUBLIC POLICY. 
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At its core, Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint is an attempt to have this 

Court order Sanford Holdings to stop selling alcohol to Oglala Sioux tribe members that 

reside on the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation.  Not only would such an order require 

Sanford Holdings to engage in racial and ethnic discrimination in the sale of its product, 

it would set an untenable precedent for adjudication of generalized grievances that are 

more appropriately addressed in the representative branches.  As noted in Pelzek, 

supra, the repeal of dramshop liability provisions in 1935 and the Legislature’s 

subsequent refusal to reinstate dramshop liability was “an expression of Nebraska 

public policy.” Pelzek, 236 Neb. at 609, 463 N.W.2d at 323. 

Courts have recognized that in the context of public nuisance actions against 

lawful business practices, there are “practical concerns both about potentially limitless 

liability and about the unfairness of imposing liability for the acts of another”  Sturm, 

Ruger & Co., 761 N.Y.S.2d at 196 (quoting Hamilton v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., 750 

N.E.2d 1055, 1061 (N.Y. 2001)).  As one court noted: 

All a creative mind would need to do is construct a scenario describing a known 

or perceived harm of a sort that can somehow be said to relate back to the way a 

company or an industry makes, markets and/or sells its non-defective, lawful 

product or service, and a public nuisance claim would be conceived and a lawsuit 

born. 

People ex rel. Spitzer v. Sturm, Ruger & Co., 761 N.Y.S.2d 192, 196 (App. Div. 2003). 

Sanford Holdings cannot be ordered to discriminate in the sale of alcohol to 

customers on the basis of race or ethnicity. There is no legal authority that would 
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require Sanford Holdings to be the insurer of the safety of those who buy or consume 

alcohol or those who are affected by other persons’ consumption of alcohol.     

CONCLUSION 

For all of the foregoing reasons, Sanford Holdings requests that the Court grant 

its motion to dismiss and dismiss the Second Amended Complaint with prejudice, as a 

matter of law. 
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